### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## CASE NO. SC11-1908

# SHAHLA M RABIE CORTEZ,

Petitioner,

vs.

# PALACE RESORTS, INC, PALACE RESORTS, LLC, & TRADCO, LTD., INC.,

Respondents.

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DIAZ, REUS & TARG, LLP 100 Southeast Second Street Suite 2600 Miami, Florida 33131

Michael Diaz, Jr. Carlos F. Gonzalez Gary E. Davidson Xingjian Zhao

Attorneys for Petitioner

# **

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Shahla Rabie's plight brings to light several important questions of law which are now ripe for resolution by this Court. First, Shahla's case has exposed the dramatic rift that exists between this Court's original decision in *Kinney Sys., Inc. v. Con'l Ins. Co.,* 674 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1996), and its subsequent application by district courts of appeal and trial courts across Florida. The lower courts have strayed from this Court's adoption of federal precedent in the area of forum non conveniens. This, in turn, has negatively impacted plaintiffs like Shahla who, although not Florida citizens, have a legitimate claim to access the courts of our state.

Second, Shahla's case highlights the need for fundamental reform in how motions to dismiss on forum non conveniens grounds are handled by the trial courts. This case offers a textbook example of the potential for abuse that exists in forum non conveniens practice. Because of the wooden approach the lower courts have taken in disposing of *Kinney* motions, defendants like those in this case have been able to win dismissals on the basis of false affidavit testimony that has not been subjected to rigorous cross-examination. As noted by Judge Rothenberg in her dissenting opinion here, the Florida Defendants have filed false affidavit testimony in several cases in an effort to improperly win dismissal on forum non conveniens grounds.

Third, the danger for abuse is compounded by a lack of clarity regarding the appellate standard of review. As seen here, the Third District's majority opinion glossed over the abusive practices of the Florida Defendants on the ground that such consideration would impinge the abuse of discretion standard of review. Yet, in the absence of a rule requiring an evidentiary hearing before resolving forum non conveniens motions, there must be a secondary check in place.

Finally, Shahla's case highlights an important federal constitutional issue. By denying Shahla her day in a Florida court, the trial court here, along with the Third District Court of Appeal, ratified, unwittingly, perhaps, a violation of the U.S. Constitution's Privileges and Immunities Clause. As a U.S. citizen, Shahla is entitled to litigate in Florida's courts, especially where, as here, the Defendants were based in Florida.

The public policy implications of this case are clear. The decision here may redefine how motions to dismiss on forum non conveniens grounds are handled across the state. That is critical given that such motion practice is common in Florida. Our state's geographic location, its major air and sea ports, its booming tourist industry, and its growing presence as a hub for international business all make clear that our courts have not seen the last of cross-border disputes with a strong Florida nexus.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

*Shahla is deceived.* Shahla Rabie is a Los Angeles, California school teacher who lives with her husband and two children. (R: 1285-1290).<sup>1</sup> In May of 2006, Shahla called Costco Travel to book a vacation. (R: 111). During the call, Costco's sales representative persuaded Shahla to change her vacation plans and book an all-inclusive package with the Palace Resorts Moon Palace ("Moon Palace"). *Id.* Shahla did not know that this vacation package was part of a marketing ploy developed by Palace Resorts to sell timeshares. *Id.* 

Palace Resorts designed the timeshare scheme – which offered heavily discounted vacation packages to its properties in Cancun – in Florida. *Id.* Once at the resort, unsuspecting vacationers were cornered by salespeople – who would badger them into attending timeshare sales pitches. (R: 111-12). To induce guests to participate in the pitches, the sales team offered free golfing tours and massages. (R: 112).

Soon after arriving at Moon Palace on August 9, 2006, Shahla and her family were routinely surrounded by salespeople who hounded them into attending a timeshare presentation. *Id.* Although they resisted at first, Shahla and her husband eventually agreed to attend one of the pitches. (R: 112-113). A complimentary massage awaited Shahla after the presentation. (R: 113).

Citations to "R" refer to the record on appeal.

Shahla is raped. On August 11, 2006, Shahla called Moon Palace's spa to schedule her massage. *Id.* Shahla, who did not frequent spas, specifically requested a female masseuse at the time she made her reservation. *Id.* None were available, according to the resort. *Id.* When she arrived at the spa, Shahla again requested a female masseuse. *Id.* Once again, she was told that none were available. *Id.* The spa's receptionist, however, assured Shahla that her male masseuse was a reputable professional. *Id.* 

Trusting the spa receptionist, Shahla relented. *Id*. While she lay on the massage table, her face covered by a hot towel, Shahla suddenly felt a severe pain in her vagina. *Id*. Moon Palace's "reputable" masseuse had forced his finger into Shahla's vagina. *Id*. In a panic, Shahla jumped off the massage table and ran into the spa's reception area crying for help. *Id*.

Shahla's cries were met with indifference. (R: 113-114). One hotel representative suggested that Shahla and her husband "take a walk" and "look at the moon" in order to calm down. *Id*. Another warned Shahla against filing a police report, saying that she would have to endure an "uncomfortable" physical exam. *Id*. Helpless and in a state of shock, Shahla and her husband, who had joined her, returned to their hotel room. *Id*.

The next morning, Shahla contacted Costco Travel's office in the United States, the U.S. consulate, and the local Cancun police. (R: 114). Shahla also

underwent a physical exam which confirmed the trauma to her vagina from the forced digital penetration she endured at the hands of the hotel's masseuse. *Id.* Shortly after the attack, Shahla and her family returned to the United States. *Id.* 

*Shahla sues.* In November 2008, Shahla sued Palace Resorts in Miami, Florida, the company's headquarters. (R: 768, 1286-90). Everything, including the representations contained in Palace Resorts' brochures and websites, the addresses and toll free numbers listed on Palace Resorts' marketing materials, and the representations made by Palace Resorts' timeshare sales representatives in Mexico, pointed to Miami as Palace Resorts' home base. *Id.* Shahla asserted negligence claims against three Florida Defendants, and multiple additional claims against two Mexican Defendants. (R: 109-128).

*The Florida Defendants move to dismiss.* The Florida Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint for forum non conveniens, contending that Shahla had to pursue her claims in Mexico. (R: 31-33, 50-63). Testifying for the Florida Defendants as an expert witness, Manuel Garcia Pimentel Caraza admitted that he had not litigated a civil case in Mexico in at least five years, and had never litigated any cases in Quintana Roo, the specific forum he advocated. (R: 760-61, 1241-42).

In formulating his "expert" opinion regarding Mexico as an adequate, alternative forum, Garcia Pimentel did not consider the Florida Defendants' role in

this case. (R: 167-180, 758-59, 1229-33). Indeed, Garcia Pimentel refused to offer any testimony regarding the Florida Defendants, or their liability. (R: 758, 1229-33) ("Well, I'm not giving testimony on that right now."). When he was pressed, Garcia Pimentel could not even correctly state whether Shahla's claims against the Florida Defendants and her underlying theories of liability were even recognized by Mexican law. (R. 759, 1234-46).

*The Third District Court of Appeal departs from the Kinney standard.* On June 22, 2011, a divided Third District panel affirmed the dismissal of Shahla's case in favor of Mexico. *See Rabie Cortez v. Palace Holdings, S.A. de C.V.*, 66 So. 3d 959, 959-964 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011). An equally divided panel subsequently denied Shahla's motion for rehearing and rehearing *en banc. See id.*, reh'g denied (Aug. 24, 2011).

In so ruling, the majority emphasized the fact that Shahla was not a Florida resident (she lives in California), *see id.* at 962-63, that she was sexually assaulted in Mexico, *see id.* at 960-61, and that she reported her allegations to U.S. and Mexican authorities, in Mexico. *See id.* at 960, 963, n. 7. Based on its finding that "[e]ach of the *Kinney* steps was fully addressed by the trial court in the trial court's Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss on Forum Non–Conveniens," the majority applied a pure abuse of discretion – rather than *de novo* – standard of review. *Id.* at 960-61. It held, "based on the test set forth in *Kinney*," that "Mexico is a more

convenient forum to litigate the lawsuit than Florida." *Id.* at 961. On account of its highly permissive standard of review, the majority refused to "re-weigh the evidence." *Id.* (holding that "the trial court did not abuse its discretion by granting the defendants' motion to dismiss on forum non conveniens grounds.").

In reaching its conclusion, the majority held that Quintana Roo, Mexico was an adequate and available forum under their *Kinney* analysis. *Id.* at 962. It found that "although procedures and remedies available in Mexico may be different from or offer a less favorable outcome than our courts, this is not enough to render Mexico an inadequate forum under *Kinney*," and that the demonstrated paucity of recoverable civil damages and Shahla's inability to obtain adequate counsel "does not render the [Mexican] forum inadequate." *Id.* 

It further found that the private factors favored dismissal of Shahla's action, because the strong presumption against disturbing a plaintiff's choice of forum "is given less deference when, as here, the plaintiff is an out-of-state resident with very little, if any, contact with Florida." *Id.* at 963. It further determined that "[e]ven with deference to the Plaintiff's choice of forum, the private interest factors weigh more heavily in favor of proceeding against the defendants in Mexico. The Appellant, a California resident, chose to file suit in Florida, a forum that is not her residence; thus, she is not entitled to a strong presumption in favor of Florida as her initial forum choice. Without this strong presumption, the private interests clearly favor dismissal and resolution in a Mexican forum where the most significant evidence and witnesses are located." *Id*.

Finally, the majority determined that under its *Kinney* analysis, the public interest concerns "also points [*sic*] toward Mexico as the most favorable forum." *Id.* at 963. Acknowledging the Florida Defendants' heavy presence in Florida, it found that "[t]hese entities' location in Florida does not provide a general nexus to Florida sufficient to outweigh the other *Kinney* factors." *Id.* (adding that "[t]his is so particularly where the plaintiff is not a Florida resident and this action, which is essentially a tort action, finds most of the witnesses and documents necessary for trial to be located in the foreign forum.").

In her dissent, Judge Rothenberg identified several points of tension between the majority's ruling and this Court's decision in *Kinney*. Judge Rothenberg recognized that Shahla sued in Florida *precisely because* this is where the corporate entities responsible for her "negligent vacation packaging" claim run their business, all of the defendants at issue are based in Florida, and their commercial activities in this state are extensive. In fact,

> Miami is the operational, managerial, and marketing center for the entire Palace Resorts group and [...] the Florida Defendants control: marketing; sales to individuals, groups, and travel agents; timeshare programs; customer service; press relations; and finance for the entire Palace Resorts Group. The Florida Defendants manage the entire U.S. market, which represents seventy percent of the Palace Resorts'

business; [and] the president of most of the Palace companies lives and works in Miami . . . [C]ustomer complaints are investigated by the Florida Defendants at their Miami headquarters; the Florida Defendants issue refunds to unhappy customers, design vacation packages for all Palace Resort hotels, approve all marketing literature, manage hotel websites, and issue all press releases at their Miami headquarters; and their Miami headquarters is the record-keeping center for the Mexican Palace Resorts hotels.

Rabie, 66 So. 3d 965-66 (Rothenberg, J. dissenting).

Given the Florida Defendants' strong ties to Florida, Judge Rothenberg

added:

The Florida Defendants, with a straight face, claim that Quintana Roo, Mexico, is a more convenient forum to litigate a United States citizen's negligent vacation packaging claim against them, although Miami is where their corporate headquarters is located, all the Palace Resort hotels' vacation packages are approved, and all customer complaints are investigated. Because Miami is the operational, managerial, and marketing center for the entire Palace Resorts group, the Florida Defendants control marketing and sales, and Miami is the record keeping center for the Mexican Palace Resorts hotels, it is difficult to understand how, based on [Petitioner's] causes of action, Mexico would be a more convenient forum.

Id. at 969 (Rothenberg, J. dissenting).

For these and the reasons that follow, this Court should reverse.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse because the Third District Court of Appeal's decision here expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's ruling in *Kinney Sys., Inc. v. Cont'l Ins. Co.*, 674 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1996). In *Kinney*, this Court ruled that Florida courts should adopt the federal forum non conveniens standard. *Id.* at 93. In refusing to respect Shahla's choice of Florida as the most appropriate forum for this litigation, the Third District ignored one of the most important tenets of federal forum non conveniens law. Federal courts give great deference to a U.S. citizen's choice of forum, and so too should our state courts. The decisions of the trial court and the Third District are particularly remarkable where, as here, the Respondents are based in Miami.

The Third District also incorrectly applied a pure abuse of discretion standard in deciding this case. In doing so, the appellate court disregarded its own recent holdings, which shift away from a pure abuse of discretion standard in favor of *de novo* review. Especially where, as the dissent found, "no live testimony was presented and where the trial court's order is, for the most part, conclusory," *Rabie*, 66 So. 3d at 966; *see also* (R: 167-80, 424-38, 759, 761-63, 1234-237), a fact-intensive inquiry by our appellate courts is necessary.

Finally, the Third District's refusal to honor Shahla's choice of forum also violates the Privileges and Immunities Clause of the U.S. Constitution. Simply

stated, Florida courts cannot discriminate against Shahla because she is a California resident. Like any other Florida citizen, Shahla is entitled to full and free access to Florida's courts.

### ARGUMENT

I. This Court Should Reverse Because The Decisions Below Expressly And Directly Conflict With This Court's Holding In *Kinney Sys., Inc. v. Cont'l Ins. Co.*, 674 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1996).

## A. Federal Forum Non Conveniens Precedent Governs This Action.

This Court announced in *Kinney* that "the time ha[d] come for Florida to adopt the federal doctrine of forum non conveniens." 674 So. 2d at 93; *accord Aerolineas Argentinas, S.A. v. Gimenez*, 807 So. 2d 111, 113 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002). When applying the *Kinney* factors, "opinions of the federal courts that harmonize with the [*Kinney* analysis] should be considered persuasive." *Kinney*, 674 So. 2d at 93.

B. No "Exceptional Circumstances" Justify The Trial Court's Dismissal On Forum Non Conveniens Grounds And Failure To Reverse Would Cause Petitioner To Suffer The Same Harms That The Doctrine Is Designed To Prevent.

Forum non conveniens is a narrow judicially-crafted doctrine, "based on the inherent power of the courts to decline jurisdiction in exceptional circumstances." *Paper Operations Consultants Int'l, Ltd. v. S.S. Hong Kong Amber,* 513 F.2d 667, 670 (9th Cir. 1975). Its underlying principle "is simply that a court may resist imposition upon its jurisdiction even when jurisdiction is authorized by the letter of

a general venue statute." *Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert*, 330 U.S. 501, 507 (1947). It is "an exceptional tool to be employed sparingly," not a "doctrine that compels plaintiffs to choose the optimal forum for their claim." *Carijano v. Occidental Petroleum Corp.*, 643 F.3d 1216, 1224 (9th Cir. 2011); *see also Dole Food Co. v. Watts*, 303 F.3d 1104, 1118 (9th Cir. 2002).

The doctrine's limitations derive from the power of its impact. Indeed, "forum non conveniens is a drastic exercise of the court's inherent power because, unlike a mere transfer of venue, it results in the dismissal of a plaintiff's case." *Carijano*, 643 F.3d at 1224. And, "[t]he mere fact that a case involves conduct or plaintiffs from overseas is not enough for dismissal." *Id.*; *see also Tuazon v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.*, 433 F.3d 1163, 1181-82 (9th Cir. 2006). This is especially true in a case like this one which, at this point, involves no foreign party, and in which common law tort claims are made by a U.S. citizen plaintiff against an amalgamation of Florida-based corporations. See (R: 745-54, 964, 966-1012, 1067-117).

"[D]ismissal for forum non conveniens is the exception rather than the rule." *Murray v. British Broad. Corp.*, 81 F.3d 287, 290 (2d Cir. 1996). "[U]nless the balance [of factors] is strongly in favor of the defendant, the plaintiff's choice of forum should rarely be disturbed." *S. Ry. Co. v. Bowling*, 129 So. 2d 433, 437 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961). Historically, the doctrine's purpose is not to impose strict

limits on a court's jurisdiction, nor to objectively "attempt[] to catalogue the circumstances which will justify or require either grant or denial of remedy." *Id.* It is far narrower – designed to root out exceptional instances where the "open door" of broad jurisdiction and venue laws "may admit [court access to] those who seek not simply justice but perhaps justice blended with some harassment." *Gilbert*, 330 U.S. at 507; *see also Bowling*, 129 So. 2d at 437. The doctrine has been found to be particularly applicable where a well-equipped plaintiff egregiously resorts "to a strategy of forcing the trial at a most inconvenient place for an adversary." *Id.* For example, in cases "where a plaintiff chooses a particular forum, not because it is convenient, but solely in order to harass the defendant or take advantage of favorable law." *Piper Aircraft Co. v. Reyno*, 454 U.S. 235, 249 at n. 15.

This case presents no such exceptional circumstance. To the contrary, it is the Florida Respondents who have been abusing the forum non conveniens doctrine to force Petitioner to bring her suit in Mexico, an inadequate and unavailable forum where she will almost certainly be deprived of any meaningful relief. *See* (R: 429-30). Respondents have been carrying out this abuse with unclean hands, including their admitted submission of perjured affidavits by Lourdes Rodriguez, the Chief Operating Officer of Palace Resorts, Inc., in support of their motion to dismiss. *See* (R: 44-49, 195-202, 742-747, 846-847, 852-853,

857-878, 950-954, 956-962); see also Rabie, 66 So. 3d at 965 (Rothenberg, J. dissenting) (recognizing that "[t]he Florida Defendants and Ms. Rodriguez now admit that each and every one of these [sworn] statements was false.") (emphasis added).<sup>2</sup>

Upholding dismissal here for forum non conveniens does more than defeat "the need for achieving justice." *Kinney*, 674 So. 2d at 89. It would, as well, inequitably divest Petitioner – a U.S. citizen – of her chosen U.S. forum (which incidentally and no less importantly is also the operational, managerial, and marketing center for the entire Palace Resorts group). *See* (R: 745-54, 964, 966-1012, 1067-117). It would, in the end, unconscionably cause Petitioner to suffer the precise harm that the judge-made doctrine has been created to prevent: "forcing the trial at a most inconvenient place for an adversary." *Gilbert*, 330 U.S. at 507; *see also Piper Aircraft Co.*, 454 U.S. at 249, n. 15.

# C. The Lower Courts Failed To Accord Petitioner The Required Deference As To Her Choice Of A Home Forum.

The U.S. Supreme Court has held that a U.S. plaintiff cannot be denied access to her chosen home forum, unless litigation in that forum would be "oppressive and vexatious" to the defendant "out of all proportion to plaintiff's convenience." *Koster v. Lumbermens Mut. Casualty Co.*, 330 U.S. 518, 524

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