IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Number SC11-1908

On Petition for Discretionary Review from the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida Case No. 3D09-3468

SHAHLA M. RABIE CORTEZ,

Petitioner,

v.

PALACE RESORTS, INC., PALACE RESORTS, LLC & TRADCO LTD., INC.

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICARDO J. CATA
Florida Bar No. 208809
ricardo.cata@wilsonelser.com
RONNIE GUILLEN
Florida Bar No. 842001
ronnie.guillen@wilsonelser.com
WILSON FLSEP MOSKOWIT

WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ, EDELMAN & DICKER LLP

Attorneys for Respondents 100 Southeast Second Street, Suite 3800 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 374-4400 Telephone (305) 579-0261 Facsimile

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

These Mexico-based defendants were subsequently dismissed by petitioner shortly before the scheduled hearing on their motion to dismiss based on *forum non conveniens*.

³⁴ Because the Mexican based entities have not been voluntarily dismissed, it may be true that respondent's actions may be the focus of petitioner's lawsuit; however, it will be respondent's actions in Mexico – not Florida – that will be at issue. *Rabie Cortez*, 66 So. 3d at 972-73.

a *forum non conveniens* motion. Rather, it is well recognized that a trial court's ruling can be based solely on affidavits. *Ryder System*, 997 So. 2d at 1133. Furthermore, it was respondents who asked for the opportunity to present the live testimony of Lourdes Rodriguez in order to respond to the allegations of perjury, which was refused by the trial court.

D. The pre-deposition retractions of incorrect statements undermine petitioner's allegations of perjury.

A common theme throughout petitioner's brief is that Lourdes Rodriguez filed perjured affidavits. (App. 16). However, three months before her deposition, Lourdes Rodriguez amended her original affidavit as follows:

- Paragraph 13 of the original affidavit was removed, which had read as follows: "Neither Palace Resorts Travel, Inc. d/b/a Palace Resorts, Inc. nor Palace Resorts LLC ever received any funds of any kind as a result of Plaintiff's stay at the Moon Palace Golf & Spa Resort."
- Paragraph 19 of the original affidavit was amended as follows: "All bookings and reservations for the Palace Resorts Hotels in Mexico including the Moon Palace Hotel are done [are processed] in Mexico through the "General Reservation Center" located at the time at the Moon Palace, Cancun, Mexico. The reservations are booked [are processed] by Palace Resorts Reservations, S.A. de C.V."

It is these two changes to the affidavit that constitute the alleged perjured testimony of which petitioner complains. However, when Lourdes Rodriguez's deposition is read in its entirety a different picture emerges. Lourdes Rodriguez explained that under the contract between Palace Resorts, Inc. and Palace Resorts Reservations, S.A. de C.V., a fixed percentage of the revenue generated by all

room reservations is received by Palace Resorts, Inc. for marketing purposes. (*App.* 8 at pp. 127 – 130). In this case, petitioner booked her vacation through Costco (and Costco had a contract with Palace Resorts Reservations, S.A. de C.V. of Mexico); therefore, Palace Resorts, Inc. did not receive any funds directly from petitioner; however, it would have received a small percentage indirectly through Mexico based on its contract with the resort operator.

Lourdes Rodriguez also explained that generally Palace Premier Vacation Club members (of which petitioner is not a member) book their reservations through Palace Resorts, Inc., but ultimately all of the reservations have to be processed in Mexico where the computer servers are maintained. (*App. 8 at pp. 112-116*). Therefore, the revised statement was simply a more accurate reflection of the resorts' business practices. Lourdes Rodriguez explained that she had realized her mistake and unilaterally changed her affidavit months before the deposition.

When respondents' counsel started to cross-examine Lourdes Rodriguez at deposition, petitioner's counsel within minutes stated that it was time to "shut down" the deposition after only a few questions. The court reporter also refused to proceed based on the instructions of petitioner's counsel. As a result of respondents' counsel's inability to cross-examine the witness at deposition, Lourdes Rodriguez was before the trial court during the September 30, 2009

hearing on the motion to dismiss. Respondents' counsel requested an opportunity to question Lourdes Rodriguez regarding the allegations of perjury; however, the trial court declined. Petitioner never requested an opportunity to question Lourdes Rodriguez (or any other witness) during the hearing.

These issues were fully briefed to the trial court and there is no indication that they were not taken into consideration. The Third District's decision not to revisit these issues is reasonable because the fact that Palace Resorts, Inc. received funds from the resort in Mexico or that the resort in Mexico processed the reservations are simply not germane to the *forum non conveniens* analysis.

II. The deference shown to petitioner was consistent with the doctrine of forum non conveniens.

Petitioner argues that, as a U.S. citizen, she is entitled to "great deference" in her choice of a U.S. forum, including a Florida forum, even though she is a resident of California and has no contacts with Florida. *Rabie Cortez,* 66 So.3d at 963. However, the deference due to a U.S. citizen is far from absolute and distinctions based on residency in the context of *forum non conveniens* do not violate the Privileges and Immunities Clause. *See U.S. Const. art. IV, sec.* 2, cl. 1; *Douglas v. New York, N.H. & H.R. Co.*, 279 U.S. 377 (1929); *Missouri ex. Rel. Southern Railway v. Mayfield*, 340 U.S. 1 (1950).

Second, ever since this Court's ruling in *Kinney*, adopting the federal *forum* non conveniens doctrine, it has been recognized that residency is only one factor to

be taken into consideration. Accordingly, Florida's appellate courts have properly determined that non-residents are entitled to less deference; however, less deference has never been interpreted as no deference at all. Wood v. Bluestone, 9 So.3d 671 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009) (In a lawsuit between a New York plaintiff and a Florida defendant, the court recognized that when a plaintiff is a non-resident, his or her choice of forum is entitled to less deference). Myriad cases could be cited for this proposition, some of which are set forth in the margin.³⁵ Thus, the trial court and Third District's conclusion that petitioner was "not entitled to a strong presumption in favor of Florida as her initial forum choice" is well supported by Florida law. Rabie Cortez, 66 So. 3d at 963.36 Ever since Kinney it has been accepted that a plaintiff's choice of forum is not dispositive, and a court may decline to exercise jurisdiction when, as here, petitioner is a non-resident, the cause of action did not arise in the forum state, and the private and public factors all

-

Since *Kinney*, Florida courts have recognized that residency is a factor to be considered in a *forum non conveniens* analysis and that the presumption against disturbing a plaintiff's choice of forum is given less deference when the plaintiff is an out-of-state resident. *Kerzner Int'l*, 983 So. 2d at 750; *Hilton Int'l*., 971 So. 2d at 1001; *R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Carter*, 951 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007); *Charles v. McMahon*, 916 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); *DeLuca v. Hislop*, 868 So. 2d 1254 (Fla.4th DCA 2004); *Value Rent-A-Car*, 720 So. 2d at 555.

³⁶ Citing to, *Kerzner Int'l*, 983 So. 2d at 750; and *Value Rent-A-Car*, 720 So. 2d 552.

weigh in favor of dismissal. *Kinney*, 674 So. 2d at 93. Needless to say, as the cases set forth in the margin show, Florida's approach is not unique.³⁷

Under federal law the relevant inquiry is not whether a plaintiff is a resident of the chosen forum, but rather whether a plaintiff is an American citizen. However, even under the federal courts' approach, American citizens do not have the absolute right to sue in an American court, and citizenship is but one factor among many to be taken into consideration. *Piper Aircraft*, 454 U.S. at 256 ("Citizens or residents *deserve somewhat more deference* than foreign plaintiffs, but dismissal should not be automatically barred when a plaintiff has filed suit in his home forum. As always, if the balance of conveniences suggests that the trial in the chosen forum would be unnecessarily burdensome for the defendant or the court, dismissal is proper.") (emphasis added).³⁸

Like Florida, the majority of states that have addressed the issue have also recognized that residency is a factor to be taken into consideration and that a non-resident's choice of forum is afforded less deference in a *forum non conveniens* analysis. *Quixtar Inc. v. Signature Management Team, LLC.*, 315 S.W.3d 28 (Tex. 2010); *Peterson v. Feldmann*, 784 N.W.2d 493 (S.D. 2010); *Berbig v. Sears Roebuck & Co.*, 882 N.E.2d 601 (III. App. Ct. 2007); *Gianocostas v. Riu Hotels*, 797 N.E.2d 937 (Mass. App. Ct. 2003); *Durkin v. Intevac, Inc.*, 782 A.2d 103 (Conn. 2001); *Wentzel v. Allen Machinery, Inc.*, 277 A.D. 2d 446, 447 (N.Y. App. Ct. 2000); *D'Agostino v. Johnson & Johnson, Inc.*, 542 A.2d 44 (N.J. App. Ct. 1988); *Celotex Corp. v. American Insurance Co.*, 199 Cal. App. 3d 678) (Cal. App. Ct. 1987); *Lowe v. Norfolk & Western R.R. Co.*, 463 N.E.2d 792 (III. 1984) *rev. denied* 467 N.E.2d 582 (1984); *Cray v. General Motors Corp.*, 207 N.W.2d 393 (Mich. 1973).

³⁸ The following federal courts have also recognized that a U.S. citizen's forum choice is entitled to "somewhat more deference" and the mere fact that a plaintiff

Since this Court's decision in *Kinney*, residency has been only one factor to be considered. If this Court were to once again adopt rigid rules as to residency, then the doctrine "would lose much of the very flexibility that makes it so valuable." Piper Aircraft, 454 U.S. at 250. The record shows that the courts below did not disregard petitioner's residency. Rather, consistent with Florida and federal law, petitioner was given the deference accorded to a non-resident who has chosen to sue in a Florida forum for a cause of action that arose in a foreign country.

Under Florida law, a trial court's decision on forum non conveniens is III. reviewed for abuse of discretion, which is the standard previously acknowledged by petitioner and applied by the Third District.

Petitioner argues that the majority applied the incorrect standard of review. Specifically, rather than an abuse-of-discretion standard, she asserts that the Third

District should have applied an "abuse of discretion/de novo" standard. 39 However,

is a United States citizen does not, in and of itself, conclusively establish the convenience of a United States forum, and the presence of American plaintiffs is not in and of itself sufficient to bar dismissal on the ground of forum non conveniens. Tazoe, 631 F.3d at 1321; Villeda Aldana v. Fresh Del Monte Produce, Inc., 2007 WL 3054986 (S.D. Fla. 2007), aff'd 578 F.3d 1283 (11th Cir. 2009); Morse v. Sun Int'l Hotel, Ltd., 2001 WL 34874967 (S.D. Fla. 2001), aff'd 277 F.3d 1379 (11th Cir. 2001); Alcoa Steamship Co., Inc. v. M/V Nordic Regent, 654 F.2d 147 (2nd Cir. 1978) (en banc), cert. denied 449 U.S. 890 (1980); Cheng v. Boeing Co., 708 F.2d 1406 (9th Cir. 1983), cert. denied 464 U.S. 1017 (1983); Pain v. United Technologies Corp., 637 F.2d 775 (D.C. 1980), cert. denied 454 U.S. 1128 (1981).

³⁹ Only the Third District recognizes a very limited exception to the abuse-ofdiscretion standard, applied when the trial court fails to address one or more of the Kinney factors. Ryder System, 997 So. 2d at 1133. However, in this case the majority determined that all of the Kinney factors were addressed at length in the legal memoranda filed by the parties at the trial level and at the hearing on the

it was petitioner who previously asserted before the Third District that "Orders granting dismissal for *forum non conveniens* are reviewed for abuse of discretion." She now complains that the Third District applied the standard of review that she initially advocated. It was only when requesting rehearing that petitioner asked that the Third District apply an "abuse of discretion/de novo" standard.⁴⁰

Here, the Third District recognized and applied the correct standard of review. In the Third District, abuse of discretion has been the applicable standard of review in *forum non conveniens* cases for fifty years. *Southern Ry. Co. v. Bowling*, 129 So. 2d 433, 434 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961). All other appellate courts in Florida apply the same standard. Most importantly however, the Third District's application of an abuse of discretion standard herein was done pursuant to the mandate of this Court. *Kinney*, 674 So. 2d at 86; see also, Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061(4) ("The decision to grant or deny the motion for dismissal rests in the sound discretion of the trial court, subject to review for abuse of discretion.")

m

motion, that the trial court had a sufficient record before it, and that the trial court addressed all the factors at the hearing and in its order. *Rabie Cortez*, 66 So. 3d at 961.

⁴⁰ The dissent below also asserted that an "abuse of discretion/de novo" standard of review should have been employed; however, such an approach would have been contrary to the mandate of this Court in *Kinney* and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061.

⁴¹ See Corinthian Colleges, Inc. v. Philadelphia Indem. Ins. Co., 922 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); State Farm Fire and Cas. Co. v. Sosnowski, 836 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003); Darby v. Atlanta Cas. Ins. Co., 752 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Cameron, 190 So. 2d 34 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966).

Petitioner's assertion that the trial court failed to make specific findings with respect to each of the *Kinney* factors is unfounded. Rather, the trial court, in a thorough order, discussed the factual background of this lawsuit and addressed the *Kinney* factors. Then, the Third District addressed the relevant facts and also revisited the *Kinney* factors, applying the abuse-of-discretion standard of review mandated by this Court, *and requested by petitioner*. Considering the extensive record, as well as this Court's decision in *Kinney* and precedent from the Third District, there was nothing "arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable" about the trial court's decision and it should not be disturbed on appeal. *Canakaris v. Canakaris*, 382 S0.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980) ("The discretionary ruling of the trial judge should be disturbed only when his decision fails to satisfy this test of reasonableness").

IV. Distinctions based upon residency do not violate the Privileges and Immunities Clause.

Petitioner never argued before the trial court that under the Privileges and Immunities Clause (*U.S. Const. art. IV, sec. 2, cl. 1*), Florida's courts are required to give her a heightened level of deference in her choice of forum. This issue was not even raised during the initial briefing or oral arguments before the Third District. Rather, petitioner first raised this argument in her motion for rehearing before the Third District. Her failure to raise this issue at the trial court, and in her legal briefs, and at oral argument before the Third District should constitute a

forfeiture of her right to raise it before this Court. *Brown v. Nagelhout*, SC10-868 (Fla. 2012) (declining to address on appeal a defendant's *forum non conveniens* arguments that were not raised before the trial court).⁴²

In any event, petitioner has failed to cite a single case to support her argument. The reason for her failure is obvious – the law does not support her position. It is well established that a distinction *can* be made between residents and non-residents in the context of a *forum non conveniens* analysis without violating the Privileges and Immunities Clause. *U.S. Const. art. IV, sec. 2, cl. 1; Douglas,* 279 U.S. at 377; *Mayfield,* 340 U.S. at 1.

In *Douglas*, the U.S. Supreme Court – addressing a *forum non conveniens* statute that allowed a New York court to dismiss the claim of an non-resident plaintiff but which would not have allowed dismissal of an action brought by a New York resident – recognized that making a distinction between residents and non-residents does not violate the clause: "A distinction of privileges according to residence may be based upon rational considerations and has been upheld by this Court, emphasizing the difference between citizenship and residence …. There are

⁴² See also, Ayer v. Bush, 775 So. 2d 368, 370 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) ("It is a rather fundamental principle of appellate practice and procedure that matters not argued in the briefs may not be raised for the first time on a motion for rehearing."); *Thompson v. Napotnik*, 923 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) (holding that constitutional issues which are not raised at the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal); *Reese v. State Department of Transportation*, 743 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (holding that constitutional issues not raised at trial cannot be argued on appeal).

manifest reasons for preferring residents in access to often overcrowded Courts, both in convenience and in the fact that broadly speaking it is they who pay for maintaining the courts concerned." *Douglas*, 279 U.S. at 387.

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